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CONSENT AGREEMENT 

I. AUTHORITIES AND PARTIES

1. The United States Environmental Protection Agency, Region 9 ("EPA") and Haili

Moe, Inc. ("Respondent") (collectively the "Parties") agree to settle this matter and consent to 

the entry of this Consent Agreement and Final Order ("CA/FO"). This CA/FO is an 

administrative action commenced and concluded under Section 1423(c)(l) of the Safe 

Drinking Water Act ("SDWA"), 42 U.S.C. § 300h-2(c)(l), and Sections 22.13(b), 22.18(b)(2) and 

(3), and 22.45 of the Consolidated Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment 

of Civil Penalties and the Revocation/Termination or Suspension of Permits, as codified at 40 

C.F.R. Part 22.
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2. Complainant is, by lawful delegation, the Director of the Enforcement and

Compliance Assurance Division of EPA, Region 9. The Administrator of EPA delegated the 

authority to bring and settle this action under the SDWA to the Regional Administrator of EPA 

Region 9. In turn, the Regional Administrator further delegated the authority to bring this 

action and sign a consent agreement settling this action under the SDWA to the Director of 

the Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division. 

3. Respondent is Haili Moe, Inc., an asset management company incorporated

in Hawaii. 

4. Respondent is the "owner" or "operator" of a large capacity cesspool at the

following location: Jack Harter Helicopters, 4231 Ahukini Rd., Lihue, Hawaii 96766 (TMK: 4-

3-6-002-001), ("the Property").

5. Where the Parties agree to settle one or more causes of action before the filing

of a complaint, an administrative action may be commenced and concluded simultaneously by 

the issuance of a consent agreement and final order. See 40 C.F.R. § 22.13{b). 

6. The Parties agree that settling this action without the filing of a complaint or the

adjudication of any issue of fact or law is in their interest and in the public interest. 

7. Respondent consents to the terms of this CA/FO, including the assessment of the

civil penalty of $21,671, and the performance of the compliance requirements specified below. 

II. JURISDICTION AND WAIVER OF RIGHT TO JUDICIAL REVIEW AND HEARING

8. Consistent with 40 C.F.R. § 22.18{b), for purposes of the proceeding,

Respondent admits the jurisdictional allegations of the CA/FO; neither admits nor denies 

specific factual allegations contained in the CA/FO; consents to the assessment of any stated 

civil penalty, and to any conditions specified in the Consent Agreement; and waives any right 
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to contest the allegations and its right to appeal the proposed Final Order accompanying the 

Consent Agreement. 

9. Respondent waives any and all remedies, claims for relief, and otherwise

available rights to judicial or administrative review that Respondent may have with respect to 

any issue of fact or law set forth in this CA/FO including, but not limited to, its right to request 

a hearing under 40 C.F.R. § 22.lS{c) and Section 1423{c)(3) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300h-

2{c)(3); its right to seek federal judicial review of the CA/FO pursuant to Chapter 7 of the 

Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-06; any right to contest the allegations in this 

CA/FO; and its right to appeal this CA/FO under Section 1423{c)(6) of the SDWA, 42 

U.S.C. § 300h-2{c){6). Respondent also consents to the issuance of this CA/FO without further 

adjudication. 

III. STATUTORY AND REGULATORY AUTHORITY 

10. Section 1421 of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300h, requires that the Administrator of

EPA promulgate regulations, which shall include permitting requirements as well as 

inspection, monitoring, recordkeeping, and reporting requirements, for state underground 

injection control {"UIC") programs to prevent underground injection from endangering 

drinking water sources. 

11. Section 1421{d)(l) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300h{d)(l), defines "underground

injection" as the subsurface emplacement of fluids by well injection and excludes the 

underground injection of natural gas for purposes of storage and the underground injection of 

fluids or propping agents (other than diesel fuels) pursuant to hydraulic fracturing operations 

related to oil, gas, or geothermal production activities. 

12. Pursuant to Sections 1421 and 1422 of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 300h and 300h-
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Part 19, EPA may assess a civil penalty of not more than $27,894 for each day of violation, up to 

a maximum administrative penalty of $348,671, for violations occurring after November 2, 

2015 where penalties are assessed on or after December 27, 2023, and issue an order requiring 

compliance. 

 
29. Respondent is a corporation and therefore a "person" within the meaning of

Section 1401(12) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300f(12), and 40 C.F.R. § 144.3. 

30. Respondent owns the Property identified as Jack Harter Helicopters, located

at 4231 Ahukini Rd., Lihue, HI 96766 (TMK: 4-3-6-002-001). The Property has been in 

Respondent's ownership since at least June 24, 2005. 

31. The Property is used as a helicopter tour agency.

32. The Property has one cesspool that collects sanitary wastewater from the

restroom. 

33. EPA alleges that the cesspool that services the Property meets the regulatory

criteria of a LCC, as that term is described at 40 C.F.R. § 144.81(2), in that the cesspool has 

the capacity to serve twenty (20) or more persons per day. 

34. EPA alleges that each day that Respondent failed to close the alleged LCC at

the Property after April 5, 2005 constitutes a violation of 40 C.F.R. §§ 144.84(b)(2) and 

144.88. 

35. Section 1423(c)(4)(B) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. 300h-2(c)(4)(B), requires the
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duration of the delay, the measures taken or to be taken to prevent or minimize the delay, and 

a timetable by which those measures will be implemented. Failure to comply with the notice 

requirement of this Paragraph shall preclude Respondent from asserting any claim of Force 

Majeure. 

55. If EPA agrees in writing that the delay or anticipated delay in compliance with

this CA/FO has been or will be caused by circumstances beyond the control of Respondent, the 

time for performance may be extended for the period of the delay resulting from the 

circumstances causing the delay. In such event, EPA will grant in writing an extension of time. 

An extension of the time for performing an obligation granted by EPA pursuant to this 

Paragraph shall not, of itself, extend the time for performing a subsequent obligation. 

SUBMISSIONS REQUIRMENT

56. All reports, notifications, documentation, submissions, and other

correspondence required to be submitted by this Order must be submitted to EPA 

electronically, to the extent possible. If electronic submittal is not possible, submissions may 

be made by certified mail (return receipt requested). The subject line of all email 

correspondence must include the facility name, docket number, and subject of the deliverable. 

All electronically submitted materials must be in final and searchable format, such as Portable 

Document Format (PDF) with Optical Character Recognition (OCR) applied. Electronic or 

mailed submissions shall be sent to the individuals identified below: 

EPA Region 9 Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Division 

Jelani Shareem 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, ECAD-3-3 

75 Hawthorne Street 

San Francisco, CA 94105 

shareem.jelani@epa.gov 
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VII. GENERAL PROVISIONS

62. Full payment of the penalty as described in Section V.A., above, and full

compliance with this CA/FO as described in Section V.B. shall only resolve Respondent's 

liability for federal civil penalties for the violations and facts alleged in Section IV of this 

CA/FO. Violation of this CA/FO shall be deemed a violation of the SDWA for purposes of 

Section 1423(b) of the SDWA, 42 U.S.C. § 300h-2(b). 

63. The Parties consent to service of this CA/FO by e-mail at the following valid e-

mail addresses: shareem.jelani@epa.gov and jackson.julia@epa.gov (for Complainant) and 

DGB@caselombardi.com, dhorner@grovefarm.com, and dhinazumi@grovefarm.com 

(for Respondent). 

64. This CA/FO, inclusive of all exhibits, appendices, and attachments, is the entire

agreement between the Parties. 

65. The provisions of this CA/FO shall apply to and be binding upon Respondent

and its officers, directors, employees, and successors or assigns. Action or inaction of any 

persons, firms, contractors, employees, agents, or corporations acting under, through, or for 

Respondent shall not excuse any failure of Respondent to fully perform its obligations under 

this CA/FO except for extensions of time to complete such obligations provided by EPA 

pursuant to Paragraph 55. 

66. Full compliance with this CA/FO does not in any manner effect the right of EPA

or the United States to pursue appropriate injunctive relief or other equitable relief or 

criminal sanctions for any violation of law, except with respect to the claims described in 

Section IV that have been specifically resolved by this CA/FO. 

67. This CA/FO is not a permit or modification of a permit and does not affect
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Respondent's obligations to comply with all federal, state, local laws, ordinances, regulations, 

permits, and orders. Issuance of, or compliance with, this CA/FO does not waive, extinguish, 

satisfy, or otherwise affect Respondent's obligation to comply with all applicable 

requirements of the SDWA, regulations promulgated thereunder, or any order or permit 

issued thereunder, except as specifically set forth herein. 

68. EPA reserves any and all legal and equitable remedies available to enforce this

CA/FO, as well as the right to seek recovery of any costs and attorneys' fees incurred by EPA in 

any actions against Respondent for noncompliance with this CA/FO. 

69. Unless otherwise specified, the Parties shall each bear their own costs

and attorney fees in this action. 

70. This CA/FO may be executed and transmitted by facsimile, email, or other

electronic means, and in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but 

all of which shall constitute an instrument. If any portion of this CA/FO is determined to be 

unenforceable by a competent court or tribunal, the Parties agree that the remaining portions 

shall remain in full force and effect. 

71. The undersigned representative of each party certifies that he or she is duly

and fully authorized to enter into and ratify this CA/FO. 

72. For purposes of the identification requirement of Section 162(f)(2)(A)(ii) of the

Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. § 162(f)(2)(A)(ii), performance of Section V.B. is restitution or 

required to come into compliance with law. 

VIII. EFFECTIVE DATE

73. Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.45, this CA/FO will be subject to public notice and

comment at least forty (40) days prior to it becoming effective through the issuance of the 
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGION 9 

75 Hawthorne Street 

San Francisco, California 94105 

IN THE MATTER OF: DOCKET NO. UIC-09-2024-0073 

Haili Moe, Inc. 

Respondent. CONSENT AGREEMENT AND 
FINAL ORDER 

Proceedings under Sections 1423(c) of the 

Safe Drinking Water Act, 

42 U.S.C. §§ 300h-2(c). 

FINAL ORDER 

The United States Environmental Protection Agency Region 9 ("EPA") and the Haili Moe, Inc. 

("Respondent"), having entered into the foregoing Consent Agreement, and EPA having duly 

publicly noticed the Stipulations and Findings and Final Order regarding the matters alleged 

therein, 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

1. The foregoing Consent Agreement and this Final Order (Docket No. UIC-

09-2024-0073) be entered;

2. Respondent pay an administrative civil penalty of $21,671 to the

Treasurer of the United States of America in accordance with the terms set forth in the 

Consent Agreement; 

3. Respondent complete all Compliance Requirements in accordance with

the terms set forth in Section V.B. of the Consent Agreement; 

4. Respondent comply with all other requirements of the Consent Agreement.
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This Consent Agreement and Final Order, as agreed to by the Parties, shall become effective on 

the date that it is filed with the Regional Hearing Clerk. This Final Order concludes this 

proceeding pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 22.18, 22.31, and 22.45. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Date: _______ _ 
Beatrice Wong 

Regional Judicial Officer, Region 9 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that the original of the fully executed Consent Agreement and Final Order in the matter 
of Haili Moe, Inc., (Docket No. UIC-09-2024-0073) was filed with Regional Hearing Clerk, U.S. 
EPA, Region IX, 75 Hawthorne Street, San Francisco, CA 94105, and that a true and correct copy 
of the same was served on the parties, via electronic mail, as indicated below:

RESPONDENT:  Donald G. Horner, President & CEO 
Haili Moe, Inc.  
3-1850 Kaumualii Hwy.
Lihue, HI 96766
dhorner@grovefarm.com

David Hinazumi, Senior Vice-President 
Haili Moe, Inc.   
3-1850 Kaumualii Hwy.
Lihue, HI 96766
dhinazumi@grovefarm.com

David G. Brittin, Director/Shareholder  
CASE LOMBARDI, a Law Corporation  
Pacific Guardian Center, Mauka Tower 
737 Bishop Street, Suite 2600  
Honolulu, HI 96813  
DGB@caselombardi.com 

COMPLAINANT: Julia Jackson, Assistant Regional Counsel
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
Region IX – Office of Regional Counsel (ORC-2-4) 
75 Hawthorne Street  
San Francisco, CA 94105   
Jackson.Julia@epa.gov     

Ponly Tu
Regional Hearing Clerk 
U.S. EPA – Region IX 
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